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Thursday, February 16, 2017
--- On commencing at 9:49 a.m.

DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning.  Please be seated.


We're sitting here today on the matter of an application filed by London Hydro with the Ontario Energy Board on August 26th, 2016, under section 78 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, seeking approval for changes to the rates that London Hydro charges for electricity distribution, to be effective May 1st, 2017.


A settlement conference was held on January 25th and 26th, 2017.  In addition to London Hydro, the other participants were representatives of the School Energy Coalition, the Vulnerable Energy Consumers' Coalition, the London Property Management Association, and the Consumers' Council of Canada.  OEB Staff also attended the conference but was not party to the settlement.


London Hydro informed the OEB on February 9th, 2017 that the participating parties reached a complete settlement on all issues.  A settlement proposal was attached to London Hydro's February 9th letter.  OEB staff^ provided their submission on the settlement proposal on February 15th, 2017.


The purpose of this hearing is to have London Hydro present the proposed settlement agreement to the OEB and to answer any clarifying questions that the Panel may have.  As indicated in Procedural Order No. 1, the purpose of this presentation is not to provide an opportunity for cross-examination by the parties, but just to seek clarification of the settlement proposal.


My name is Emad Elsayed, and I will be presiding over today's proceeding.  With me on the Panel are Board members Victoria Christie on my right and Susan Frank on my left.


May I have appearances, please.

Appearances:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Good morning, my name is Michael Buonaguro.  I'm counsel for London Hydro, and today with me -- green light.  Good morning, my name is Michael Buonaguro.  I'm counsel for London Hydro, and here with me today is Martin Benum, director of regulatory affairs for London Hydro, and David Arnold, the chief financial officer for London Hydro.


DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman.  Jay Shepherd, School Energy Coalition.


DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning.


MS. GIRVAN:  Julie Girvan for the Consumers' Council of Canada.


DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning.


MR. JANIGAN:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  Michael Janigan for the Vulnerable Energy Consumers' Coalition.


DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Good morning, Panel.  Ljuba Djurdjevic, counsel for OEB staff, and with me for Staff is Harold Thiessen.


DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning.  Is there anybody on the phone?


MR. AIKEN:  Yes, good morning, it's Randy Aiken on behalf of LPMA.


DR. ELSAYED:  Good morning, Mr. Aiken.  Anybody else?


Okay.  Any preliminary matters?

Preliminary Matters:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Nothing specific.  I'm in your hands as to how you'd like to proceed.  I can go through the highlights of the settlement agreement, or if you have specific questions you wanted to jump into we can do that as well.  Whatever you'd prefer.


DR. ELSAYED:  I think if you go over the highlights, that will be helpful, and if you don't mind, maybe the Panel can ask questions as you go if there is something, rather than wait until the end.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Absolutely, no problem.


DR. ELSAYED:  Is that okay?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Mr. Chair, just one preliminary matter on behalf of OEB staff.  In the submission on the settlement proposal, in the first paragraph we refer to one of the parties to the settlement proposal as Energy Probe Research Foundation, which is incorrect.  They are not a party.  However, London Property Management Association, or LPMA, is a party to the agreement.  Just to clarify that for the record.


DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  So perhaps, we can affirm them if possible before we start.


MS. CHRISTIE:  Okay.  So I'll read a couple of statements and I'll have each of you in turn just respond "I do" if you agree with this statement.


You're about to give evidence in this hearing.  This Panel is dependent on you telling us the truth and the law requires to you do so.  Therefore, before you testify, I must ask you this.  Do you solemnly promise this Panel that you will tell the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth?


So if you can just...


MR. BUONAGURO:  I hadn't prepared my witnesses to the idea that they would be providing evidence.  I don't think we have a particular objection to that, but it's just not my normal experience with presenting settlement proposals.


DR. ELSAYED:  We've discussed that as a Panel before we came in, and we've done it different ways, but I guess the view is that we've -- given that -- their testimony today and their answer to the question as part of evidence, that's probably --


MR. BUONAGURO:  That's fine.  I just wanted to know -- explain why we're sort of looking at each other.  So...


MR. BENUM:  I do.


MS. CHRISTIE:  You can just...


MR. ARNOLD:  I do.


DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.


MS. CHRISTIE:  And one more statement.  Do you understand that breaking that promise would be an offence under our law?


MR. BENUM:  I do.


MR. ARNOLD:  I do.


DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.


MS. CHRISTIE:  Thank you.

LONDON HYDRO INC. - PANEL 1
Martin Benum, 

David Arnold, Affirmed


DR. ELSAYED:  Do we have an actual document, or are you using the actual proposal for reference?


MR. BUONAGURO:  What we're using is, if you see on the screen there, we've got the actual settlement agreement as filed.


DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  That's fine.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And so we'll flip through that.  This will make it easier.  I'm assuming you may or may not have your own copies that you'll be working from, but this way everybody will know what we're looking at when we're talking.


DR. ELSAYED:  Sure.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And what I'll propose to do is go through it start to finish, but quickly for the items that aren't necessarily material in terms of how -- what was changed relative to the application, but then that gives you an opportunity to ask questions if you have them on those.

Presentation of the Settlement Agreement by Mr. Buonaguro:

So to start, I'm pleased to be here today to present a full settlement of all the issues in the hearing, in the application.  I'm sure the Panel is glad to hear that too, subject to any issues you may have with the details of the proposal.


And I'm going to dive right in and go to Table 1 of the settlement agreement, which is at page 8, which shows  -- summarizes the revenue requirement that was asked for as part of the original application and then tracks the changes between the responses and the settlement agreement.


And sort of the bottom line is that the original revenue deficiency being sought in the application was $3.1 million, as you can see in Table 1.  Through the IR responses that was updated for various items to 3.45 million, and then as a result of the settlement process that deficiency has dropped to just below $1.2 million, which is an approximately 60 percent reduction in the revenue deficiency that's being sought.  And you can see the total negative there of $2.267 million change.


And if we go over the page to Table 2, it gives you a bill impact summary of the new revenue requirement and rates that flow out of it as a result of the changes to the settlement agreement -- as a result of the settlement agreement, and you can see that across the board we have total bill impacts which are well below 10 percent.  In fact, most classes are experiencing a rate reduction as a result of the application and the settlement.  And the only one that's even approaching a 10 percent threshold would be central lighting, and the actual dollar change there is $2, so not necessarily something I think that the Board should be concerned about in terms of rate impacts.


Now, I'm going to start going through the individual components.  Page 10, there's a statement about RRFE outcomes, and the parties have agreed that as a package the application meets the requirements of the RRFE.


Going over the page again, the first major item is the capital.  And on capital there were three major items.  The first and most material item was an agreement to reduce -- or, sorry, to increase the capital contribution forecast for the test year by a million dollars, ostensibly in relation to previous years to bring it up to around the same level.


The impact for that is seen in Appendix 2B, a fixed asset continuity, but in terms of the revenue-requirement impact, I think the most direct material impact is actually tracking other revenue as a result of changes and how those changes are accounted for, how contributions are accounted for.


So I don't think you actually see a $1 million impact on the return.  What you see is a $1 million dollar -- another revenue impact elsewhere of approximately 92,000, I believe. 

The second major item was a reduction in the forecast the contribution in construction for –- to Hydro One for the Talbot transmission station, and that won't have an effect on 2017 rates because it's not a test year; it's actually an ACM application for that particular item. What’s happened is that the place-holder for the purpose of calculating the ACM was changed from a million-dollar contribution to a half-million-dollar contribution, which will change what is collected as part of the ACM, subject to true-up to account for the actual contribution when it's actually made.  So it's a future item. 

The third adjustment relates specifically to the general agreement to track OPEBs -- or include OPEBs in rates on a cash basis as opposed to an accrual basis, depending on the Board's determination in EB-2015-0040.  That impact is split into an OM&A component and a capital component, and the capital component has an impact of $92,700 in capitalized amounts, which would then have a corresponding small impact on the revenue requirement which is flowed through all the items. 

If there are any questions on capital?  I can move on. 

I am skipping over to page 13, which is OM&A.  In terms of pure revenue impact, this is the single largest impact.  The parties agreed to a general reduction in the requested OM&A of one million dollars^.  You can see on table 4, for the purposes of settlement, we’ve allocated across the major components, the major programs in OM&A.  But as it’s explained in the body of the paragraph, that's not necessarily what's going to happen in the test year.  The company, as it would always do, would manage that reduced OM&A spending as it sees fit as the actual test year plays out. 

You'll notice in particular that we haven't included any reduction to community relations, and it's nothing more than the fact that the community relations budget is much smaller relative to the other ones.  So it didn't make sense to try and make some material cut to that item in advance, not knowing what's going to happen. 

The other smaller component of the OM&A reduction is $216,000 reduction related to the overall agreement to treat OPEBs on a cash basis, pending the Board’s generic proceeding on the treatment of pensioned OPEBs.  So you’ll see the $216,300 reduction in the OM&A test year.

Of course, that impact is being tracked later on in a deferral account, if it turns out it is appropriate, or the Board determines it is appropriate for the company to be able to collect OPEBs on an accrual basis.  So the total test year impact is a $1.2 million reduction in OM&A. 

Are there no questions on OM&A? 

MS. FRANK:  There is a question.  I'm focusing on the million dollar^ reduction, and I wanted to know what type of changes.  I realize you can't be definitive at this point, but what kind of things might you be looking at that would manage a -- a million dollars is pretty substantial for London Hydro.  So what's the kind of thinking that you have as to how you'll accomplish this? 

MR. ARNOLD:  Honestly, we haven't put a lot in discussion to the matter yet as to where those fund are going to come from, and what changes are going to take place.  We haven't had a board meeting yet to talk to our board of directors yet associated with what the changes in OM&A are compared to the budget that was put forward. 

So unfortunately, I do not have a specific answer yet to say here's the specific changes that will be taking place. 

MS. FRANK:  My reason for the question is the comment that you make in the settlement, there will be no impact upon performance and reliability.  So to have comfort in that statement, it would be helpful to know what are you going to do that isn’t going to impact reliability or performance in any way.

MR. ARNOLD:  The initial -- and I'm speaking on my behalf, not on behalf of London Hydro.  What I mean by that is I'm one member of an executive team that works with the board of directors.  The initial thought was this would be money that is coming out of the bottom line, any money that is coming out from our shareholder, and not money that is necessarily going to -- any changes that we will be making specific cuts to any of the programs that are in place at this point in time.  That’s kind of the thought process that was taking place.

MS. FRANK:  So am I understanding you to say that you will still spend all the OM&A that you believe is appropriate, which I assume would have been something close to the 39 million originally asked for, and the fact that you've reduced it for the purpose of establishing these rates does not mean you will cut the OM&A if it would impact reliability or performance? 

MR. ARNOLD:  That is correct. 

MS. FRANK:  Okay, thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  If I may jump in, too?  There are items in there which are forecast amounts, which are not necessarily directly in the control of company.  So, for example, bad debt expense would be included in there.

So to the extent that that forecast varies, there might be savings there, not necessarily --


MS. FRANK:  Or increases.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Or increases, which the company in the normal course would have to absorb, which we’ve seen in the past with certain other companies.  Is that satisfactory? 

MS. FRANK:  That's fine. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Briefly, there is an issue here on revenue requirement.  There is no specific settlement proposal on revenue requirement.  It's basically agreeing that all the other changes have been properly flowed-through to produce the revenue requirement, and it's a mechanical -- it's a mechanical issue, in that sense. 

Cost of capital; there was a slight change in the applied for cost of capital parameters and it relates to --there was a projected issuance of capital in the test year, and there was a projected or forecast rate for that debt --sorry? 

So there was a forecast and the compromise in the settlement agreement is rather than rely on that forecast debt, we simply took that out as forecast and extended the actual debt instruments and actual debt that already existed for the test year to the entire debt for the purposes of creating the cost capital.  And you can see that the impact of that was a reduction in the total long-term debt of from 2.71 percent to 2.67 percent. 

If there are no questions on that, I can move on.

Our rate base, again the rate base is largely a pass-through issue.  It incorporates all the other changes, especially to the rate of capital.  The one major item that was separately settled and then incorporated into this was the working capital reduction, so I'll skip ahead to that issue which is on page 20 of the settlement agreement. 

So in the working capital allowance, the company had filed a study, a lead-lag study on working capital and had come up with a figure of 8.3 percent -- 8.67 percent based on its actual lead lag parameters. 

The compromise in the settlement was to use the Board's default figure of 7.5 percent, and you can see we've explained in some detail the major differences between what the Board's default 7.5 percent incorporates and what London Hydro has actually experienced in terms of lead lag.  In particular is a half day difference of lag with respect to billings for London Hydro, relative to the Board's parameters and, more importantly, a four-day lag with respect to collections for London Hydro. 

So for the purposes of settlement and throughout the term, it's now based on the Board's 7.5 percent, and London Hydro has undertaken to look into why that four-day lag and half-day lag deviation, if you will, from the Board parameters exists and whether there is anything that can be done or should be done to change those things.  It may be that there is.  It may be that there are -- those are unavoidable lags based on the realities when the hydro -- we'll see when the company comes back. 

MS. CHRISTIE:  So you'll bring that to your next rebasing, or your rate application? 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Obviously the company would prefer not to have the four-day lag, because it increases its working capital requirements.  And throughout the period, they're going to be using the Board's 7.5 percent, which doesn't account for that extra four days of lag, in particular for collections, and it would obviously like see if it can reduce it.  But they’re also -- it is possible that that's unavoidable lag, based on what's actually happening.  We don’t know.  So they're going to report on that going forward. 

MS. CHRISTIE:  Thank you. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I wonder if I can comment on this?  During the course of the discussions -- and I think it's in the agreement, so I'm not speaking out of turn -- it was agreed that the Board has said the 7.5 should be a target for LDCs.  So London Hydro has essentially agreed to accept it as a target, and is sort of incented to meet the target, because that's what's in rates.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.

MS. CHRISTIE:  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So the next issue listed is depreciation, and this is another flow-through item.  This simply captures the impacts of other changes which have an impact on depreciation.  So there is no specific settlement on depreciation rates, for example; it's simply what I would call flow-through.  And you can see there, is a small variance flow-through of negative 5 -- is it 5,000?  Negative 5,000, yeah.  I want to make sure there weren't little zeroes somewhere.

Same thing with taxes.  There's no particular -- there was no particular issue raised with respect to how the taxes are calculated, simply a flow-through of the impacts of other things.

Other revenue, again, there was no specific compromise with respect to the projected other revenue amounts for the test period.  However, as I think I mentioned with respect to capital, one of the changes under IFRS is that capital contributions are treated as other revenue.  So that's reflected here in the $43,162 amount.  That's the impact of the $1 million increase in contributions in aid of construction on the capital side.

Issue 2.2, has the revenue requirement been accurately determined.  Again, it's a flow-through issue.  Load forecast cost allocation rate design, so I'm going to -- you can see that there are a number of changes, so the customer account forecast at Issue 3.1.1 was updated during the IR responses and then updated again slightly during the settlement process.

Similarly, the load forecast -- I'm looking at  3.1.2 -- there are a number of discrete changes that were negotiated as part of the settlement agreement, and the total of the changes is captured in the -- in Table 14, in terms of the total impact on the load forecast.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Again, I wonder if I might comment.  I believe that all of the load forecasts and customer account amounts are simply a mutual review where it was agreed that the correct answer is something different.  And they weren't negotiated items, they were corrections.  I think that's fair, right?

MR. BUONAGURO:  They could be argued to be corrections.  I think a lot of times what happens is the application would be based on 2015 data, and then 2016 data becomes available during the course of the proceedings, so there's updates there.  I guess you could argue whether that's appropriate, when to do updates.  You could make that argument.  But for the purposes of settlement it has certainly been agreed that this is how it's going to be done with the updated information.  And the impacts are there and then obviously flowed through to the revenue requirement.

If there are no specific questions on load forecasts, I'll move on to -- I think the next issue is cost allocation and rate design.

Oh, sorry, there is a loss factors issue.  I think the loss -- I don't think it's actually clear on the face of it, but the loss factors were updated to reflect 2015 actuals, or -- yeah?  Go ahead.

MR. BENUM:  Well, the -- yeah, there was an issue with loss factors used in the cost allocation which were updated for 2016.  The values that we're presenting here are the actual values calculated by the Board model for everything up to 2015 and remain the same.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So there was an update to loss factors, but it was in the context of the cost allocation model.

MR. BENUM:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  The ones used for rates --


MR. BENUM:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- were already updated.

MR. BENUM:  Yeah.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I just wanted to point that out.

So I am going to skip ahead.  There is an LRAM base line that was adjusted, so the adjustments that were made earlier were included in the LRAM base line adjustment as well.  So this is updated relative to what was in the application.

Cost allocation methodology, so originally in the application London Hydro had proposed to use updated load profiles from 2017 forward using more recent smart meter data -- 2015 smart meter data, and -- but as part of the settlement it was agreed that the one-year data we had wasn't sufficient for the purposes of doing so, or at least that was what was felt, so we reverted back to 2013 data, the load profile.

So if you look at the revenue-to-cost ratios that flow out of the cost allocation, we have -- the status -- the settlement status quo ratios reflect the use of the 2013 load profiles, and then the settlement proposed revenue-cost ratios are simply taking those new status quo revenue-cost ratios and then adjusting them so that everybody is within the Board ranges.

MS. FRANK:  I didn't quite understand that, I'm sorry.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MS. FRANK:  So you're saying that the furthest rate column, the settlement proposed revenue-to-cost ratios are based upon the 2000 and what, 4 numbers?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry --


MS. FRANK:  2013?  What is it?

MR. BENUM:  Well, it's the 2013 -- the same load forecast that was used for our 2013 -- or, sorry, load profiles that were used for our 2013 cost of service updated for the new 2017 -- or -- forecast, but it all relates back to the 2004 informational filing load profiles.

MS. FRANK:  Okay.  That hasn't helped.


[Laughter]

MR. SHEPHERD:  May I comment?

MS. FRANK:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In 2013 the 2004 load profiles were used.  The company now has one year of smart meter data, 2015, and was going to use the load profile from that in cost allocation this year, but we felt, and the company agreed, that one year of data is not a sufficient data set to make sure your load profile is correctly representative of the load profiles of the various classes.

So the next time they come in for rebasing they will have six years of new load profile data, and that will be a good basis for them to now use those new load profiles.

MS. FRANK:  Let me understand the, why one year first of all.  Why did you only have 2015 available from your smart meters?  They've been around longer than that.

MR. BENUM:  That's correct, but we felt that -- we had a fairly clean complete year for 2015 in our, what we call the ODS system, our OMS system that we maintain.  So we just focused on the one year, as opposed to incomplete data from previous years.

MS. FRANK:  And 2016 is not yet available?

MR. BENUM:  It is now available, but we, for the purposes of the -- this application we weren't able to pull it all together yet.

MS. FRANK:  But you could have done it through an update.  Is that true?

MR. BENUM:  That is true, yes.

MS. FRANK:  Okay.  And then this just is a long time, going back to 2004.  I suspect there would be significant changes that have happened in the consumption patterns from 2004.  So I'm struggling a little bit that you totally ignore recent data.  So 2016 was a possibility for an update.

The other thing that I wonder, was there any consideration given to looking at both sets of data and somehow finding a, I'll call it a middle ground, you know, a transitional type piece, rather than literally one or the other?  Was that explored?

MR. BENUM:  That was not explored.

MS. FRANK:  Okay.  Then the last thing, just so I understand how big the difference might be, if I look at this Table 17, can I find a column that's based upon the 2015 data?  Which column is that?

MR. BENUM:  Both columns A and B.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Column A was as applied.  And then column B, there were small updates as a result of IR responses, but they still would have been based on that theory using the 2015 data.

So if you want to compare, what's the impact of going back to 2013, for example, in the residential rate class, it's a difference of starting from 101.66, versus starting at 99.14.

MS. FRANK:  Which is not large, but there are some --


MR. BUONAGURO:  That class, no. 

MS. FRANK:  -- that are quite large, right?  And the direction is not the same way either? 

MR. BUONAGURO:  No. 

MS. FRANK:  When you look at the GS under 50, you go from 124 down to 107.  And where is another relatively large one?  Let’s see.  The cogen 86 up to 145. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I think part of that would be because the size of the classes would tend to make -- classes of very small numbers of members would be, I guess, more volatile based on using different data.

I’d also point out that for the most part, the status quo ratio from 2004 data and the status quo ratio that’s produced from 2015 data all fall within the Board’s ranges, which means that there’s only a few classes where using different data causes you to make a change to the rates. 

For example -- and the ranges are not here, but I’ll  use the residential for example.  The 101.66 versus 99.14, in both cases you wouldn't necessarily make a change to the rates, so there would be no difference from a rate perspective of those two different -- those cost ratios specifically.  There would be an impact -- I think GS under 50 would be 124.  I think that's just outside the range.  So under the old system, you would then try to bring them down.  But using the 2004 data, you wouldn't necessarily make a change to them.  You wouldn't look to be making a change. 

So for most classes, I think you're still within your range.  So there's -- the impact is only when there’s classes that under the old system would have been outside the range, but are now in or vice versa.  I haven't tracked all that, but ... 

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if I can add that the class that is -- and this came up in some discussion, so stop me if it sounds like I'm saying something I shouldn't be saying.  The cogen class is the one that's most out of whack, but it’s also the one that is least -- one year is going to be least representative of a standard load profile, because cogen follows a different usage model than most other classes.  It's driven more by, for example, global adjustment and things like that, and less by a normal pattern of use. 

So one year is not necessarily going to be normal, particularly if you only have one or two customers in the class.

MS. FRANK:  Mr. Shepherd, would you feel that 2004 was more representative of what we're going to be seeing in 2017? 

MR. SHEPHERD:  2004 at least had several years of data.

MS. FRANK:  What was happening with cogen at the time, would that be representative with what's happening with cogen today? 

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  In fact, the company was not in the room when there was a discussion -- and I'm not going to tell you the details of the discussion, obviously, but there was a discussion about whether it was possible to meld the two data sets, and I think the conclusion was it's technically not possible to meld the two data sets. 

As you know, we have some cost allocation people on the intervenors side who know stuff like that; I don't. 

MS. FRANK:  What about from the applicant?  Did you explore the -- is there a way of looking at the two data sets and is there anything -- and I agree with you that cogen is the most dramatic example.  Have you done anything to look at that?

MR. BENUM:  We haven't done anything to look at that directly.  It's not something that -- I mean, it is something that we can explore. 

MS. FRANK:  Actually, hard to explore for right now.  But you're suggesting you're going to leave these until the next time you come in, so five years from now, say.  Is there a reason -- how much data, how many years do you need before you can put faith in it?

One year, I understand; not enough.  How many does it take?  Does it take two, does it take three?  How many does it take? 

MS. GIRVAN:  Three is better than two, and two is better than one.

MS. FRANK:  Could you come in during the IRM period with new information for this?  Is that possible?

MR. BENUM:  Yes. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  I would only add to that that there would always be changes.  But there is also sort of materiality of those changes, which I think I was trying to get at in terms of for some classes, the difference between the 2004 run and the 2015 run has no impact on rates by themselves.  It is this one class, I think, that we're most worried about. 

MS. FRANK:  You've told us I should ignore 2015, because it is only one year.  So if I had three years, I may see more material changes.  So there is a question of how long do you wait. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Fair enough. 

MS. FRANK:  Thank you. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  For rate design, so this is issue 3.3, you can see two general adjustments that have been made.  For all rate classes where the status quo fixed rate is already above the applicable ceiling, the fixed rate is now being frozen and the applicable rate increases will be made within the volumetric charge. 

So there are classes where the existing rates are already above the Board's ceiling, so they're being frozen there instead of simply continuing to increase it further beyond the ceiling. 

And then you'll see there is a second part, which there was an agreement to suspend the implementation of London Hydro's proposal move to fixed rates.  That proposal is reflected in these proposed fixed rates, but we've explained the rationale behind that agreement in a subsequent section. 

I'm assuming you have questions on the second part.  So if the first part is okay, I would move on. 

MS. FRANK:  Sorry, were you referring -- the first bullet, you mean? 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, the first bullet.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's consistent with policy.

MS. FRANK:  You're talking about do we have a question?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm just saying if you want to talk about the proposal to not implement Board policy on the fixed charge, we would do that --


DR. ELSAYED:  Just a clarifying quick question, but you have been applying the policy so far for this year? 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes. 

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  We'll come to that later. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  And here we are.  This is the agreement as part of the settlement proposal to suspend further intentional movement towards the fixed charge in accordance with Board policy. 

The proposal that was in the application, and I think it's said here, everybody agreed there was nothing wrong with it in terms of it meeting the Board's requirements under the policy. 

But as a result of various factors, including specifically feedback from customers at the town hall meetings that were run by the Board, supported by intervenor sentiments on it, and the company having reacted to those sentiments from the town hall meetings, the agreement was to suspend the operation, or suspend intentional movement towards fully fixed charges for one year, so that further information could be collected from customers in terms of their feelings on it. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, there are a number of us that would like to make submissions on this, and we know Board Staff is also opposed to it.  Do you wish to have that now? 

DR. ELSAYED:  Sure.  Why don't we do that, and then we will ask our questions after. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Perhaps could Board Staff provide their objection and we can respond? 
Submissions by Ms. Djurdjevic:


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Board Staff's submission specifically addressed this issue on page 4.  In a nutshell, Board Staff objects to suspending implementation.  There is -- the policy is clearly stated in the rate design policy report issued in April 2015.  And we do not accept this term of the settlement agreement, and recommend that if parties do not change this part of the settlement agreement, our submission is that the Board should not accept it. 

THE COURT:  Thank you. 

MS. GIRVAN:  I would like to say the Consumers Council of Canada fully supports the settlement, and our position is that London Hydro held a community day as directed by the Board, and I would like to highlight that, and clearly heard from some of its customers that they did not support the move to the fully fixed charge. 

Although anecdotal, and we all recognize that, that input is important.  And we felt that a practical approach would be for London Hydro to provide further customer engagement regarding the fixed charge and delay the implementation until the outcome of that consultation is known. 

As a practical matter, I think we believe if you're going to have community days, it's important for the LDCs to seriously consider the input they get at those days.  They can't simply ignore it.  Otherwise, why have them?

So the Board in recent years has continuously highlighted the need for customer engagement.  And in this case we think further customer engagement is warranted.

We note that the Board itself did not undertake full customer engagement when it was setting the 100 percent fixed-charge policy, so we think it's important for them -- for London Hydro to do this now and get the input from their customers.  Thanks.

DR. ELSAYED:  When you say "anecdotal", can you explain to me what that means?  Like, in terms of the --


MS. GIRVAN:  Sure.

DR. ELSAYED:  -- extent to which customer feedback was --


MS. GIRVAN:  Sure.  I was not at the meeting, but Mr. Shepherd was at the meeting.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I was going to deal with that, actually.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.

MS. GIRVAN:  So I got my information from Mr. Shepherd.


DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.

MS. GIRVAN:  And I think he can speak to that, but --


DR. ELSAYED:  Sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I will get to --


MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- that when it's my turn.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  Mr. Janigan next.
Submissions by Mr. Janigan:


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

Similar to Ms. Girvan's submissions, VECC supports this provision of the settlement agreement, and as was pointed out, this is a response to information or views that were expressed at a Board-created and -sanctioned process.  We didn't go out there and start soliciting views on this subject.  This rose in the context of a Board process to obtain the -- to communicate to the customers concerning this application and also to receive their feedback.

So like Ms. Girvan, I was not present at that meeting, and what we attempted to do was to put together a proposal that responded to the fact that these views were expressed, but on the other hand, we don't have any empirical data associated with these views that would be what you would expect in terms of dealing with any kind of alteration to this policy.

So it's important to stress we're not putting forward a departure or some sort of reform to this policy apart from this delay to obtain the empirical information, and respect the Board Staff submission, and of course there is a report that is in place that sets out the policy in this regard.

However, with respect, we don't believe that customer engagement that was -- or consultation that was done for this report suddenly stops at the time that a report is issued.

This particular policy is not something that is statute-based.  It is not something that relies on ordinary regulatory principles.  It's not something like suddenly the customer said, put all the costs of this in some other class and, you know, we're bringing forward a policy to see if that's popular.

This is not the case.  It involves rate design, and this is something that is intimately bound up with customer preference and customer use.  And it seems to deal directly with the kinds of concerns the Board wished to address when they adopted the RRFE policy or adopted the policy of community days.

Secondly, I note that Board Staff has cited some of the benefits that are expected from this policy.  We have to say that those benefits are not necessarily received wisdom across the board.  And, you know, I'm not going to get into the debate about the merits of this policy, but would just point out there are some things that, you know, that they're still -- seem to be of -- in issue, and I have to say that it's a head-scratcher for us how a fixed delivery charge is an incentive for conservation, but, you know, we may be just thick on the matter.

But in any event, we think that having a delay is important for the purpose of attempting to assess, at least with respect to this application, what exactly are the customer views with respect to rate design.

And we appreciate the fact that this is a policy that's moving forward, and a delay to some extent might be seen as some kind of inordinate problem associated with implementing this, but with respect, I think we would point out that this is -- this policy is not all buttoned down.  The Board hasn't started to consider what the effect is on risk associated with having a full delivery charge and what effect that might be on ROE, and certainly that's a matter that's of some importance to my constituents as well as most ratepayers.

So it's not necessarily so fully formed that a delay would be looked to be inordinately a problem to continue.

And finally, I think Ms. Girvan's point about consultation is an important one.  Consultation is a two-way street, and you have to communicate and you have to take back what they say.

That doesn't mean that everything they say has to be implemented.  However, in this sort of circumstance where the issue does concern rate design, I think it's important that the Board has before it that kind of information.  If not, I think we have to make sure that we communicate in the consultation process that there are items that are quarantined associated with policy or, in this case, rate design that, frankly, that input is not welcome.  And I think to some extent that is likely to be a controversial kind of decision on the part of the Board.

So I realize that we are kicking a difficult area or kind of problem before you today, but I think, in fairness, particularly with respect to our representation of ratepayer groups, that that is the responsible thing for us to do, and to leave it in the wisdom of the Board to see how this can be accommodated.  And we think the idea of getting better evidence and a delay is the best way to approach this.

Thank you.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.
Submissions by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I have two things to address.  The first is, I was actually at the community day.  A member of the public actually made a presentation saying, you're talking about a rate increase of, I think it was like 5 percent or something.  That's not really true.  That's not -- I've done the math, and my rate increase is 22 percent.  And that's too much.  And he had obviously -- the person who made the presentation has obviously taken some time to work through why that was happening.  He understood why it was happening.  But he thought it was London Hydro that was doing it.

There was a strong support for what he was saying in the room, and eventually the CEO of London Hydro had to say, no, lookit, we're just following a policy that we're obligated to follow.  If it were up to us we wouldn't be doing this, but we have no choice.  We're required to do this.

So when we say that the evidence is anecdotal, we saw -- I saw, and London Hydro saw, one customer concerned that customers with low loads are going to get whacked more than the wealthier customers, if you like.  And there was -- there were maybe 40 customers in the room or so.  And there was a pretty strong support for what that customer was saying.

So that's not a survey.  You don't know, actually, from that whether London Hydro's customers actually are opposed to this and, if so, how strongly.

So that leads to my second point.  And by the way, they -- and so London Hydro correctly said, well, really, we would have to go survey our customers to find out in a proper way what they really feel about this.

So that leads to my second point, which is, we don't have one policy here that is being addressed.  There is a policy to move to fixed-charge.  That, by the way, is a policy.  It's not binding on this Board, and you're not legally allowed to treat it as binding.

There is another policy.  And that policy is, utilities should go out to their customers and talk to them and then listen to what they have to say.  And the OEB should also listen to what the customers have to say.  That's also a policy.

London Hydro in this agreement has basically agreed to try to comply with both policies.  So rather than say, what we heard from our customers is that they don't want this, so we don't want to do it -- they're not saying that.  What they're saying is, give us a chance to go talk to the customers and find out what they really feel about this policy and come back and tell you, the Board.  And then you as a Board can decide how much weight you want to give to that customer feedback.

That way, London Hydro can comply with the policy to move to a fixed charge, because they're not saying don't do it.  They're saying suspend it while we go get more information, and London Hydro and the Board can comply with the policy of going out to talk to customers, and then listening to what they have to say. 

There is no point in having customer engagement if you're not listening.  If you go and ask customers what do you think and then say that doesn't matter, that's not useful.  So when the customers have, without being prompted, raised an issue about this policy, it would appear to us that it's not fair to say to London Hydro, no, you have to go back and tell them tough luck.  That's not fair, and its a not what the Board should do.

The Board should, in this case, say let's find out more about what this customer -- about what the customers want in London, and then we'll make an assessment.  If I were Board Staff, I would say, yeah, but if you come back with a survey that says nobody likes this, we're still going to impose anyway because that's the policy.  I don't know whether Board Staff would say that, but if I were them, that's what I would be saying. 

But the answer, I think, is no, actually.  If London Hydro comes back with a survey that says that their customers generally don't want to go to fully fixed charge, that they think that's not a good idea, both the high residential users and low ones all say no, we don't want this, then the Board would, I think, would have an obligation then to say, well, maybe we shouldn't be doing this, or at least we shouldn't be doing it in London. 

And so I guess our view is that London Hydro has, in this settlement proposal, proposed a good balance that seeks to comply with both policies in the best way possible.  And it doesn't hurt the fixed charge policy; all it does is get you more information.  That’s always good.  Those are our submissions. 

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  Any others?  Mr. Aiken? 
Submissions by Mr. Aiken:


MR. AIKEN:  Yes, if I could just add, essentially I agree with what Ms. Girvan, Mr. Janigan, and Mr. Shepherd have said.

I wrote down on my notes here that Ms. Girvan specifically said that the utilities should not ignore customer feedback, and there’s two things I want to add to that. 

One is intervenors should not ignore customer feedback.  And the second one, which Mr. Shepherd highlighted, is that the Board should not ignore customer feedback, because if you're going to start ignoring specific items in customer feedback, then you destroy the whole consultation process, and I don't think we want that.  That's my submission. 

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  Any questions from the panel? 

MS. FRANK:  Maybe one comment.  Mr. Shepherd, you’ve characterized the high-use customer as wealthy.  I think the high-use customer could actually be a customer who has electricity as the source of heat, which doesn't mean they're a wealthy customer.  They could actually be quite the opposite. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  That is true.  But I think I was looking at the London situation, where that's less likely to be true.  In London, it's less likely to have electric heat and be a large user. 

MS. FRANK:  But there still are some --


MR. SHEPHERD:  There are some.

MS. FRANK:  It’s just the general comment is something I didn't want on the record; it’s a qualification. 

DR. ELSAYED:  Just a couple of clarifying questions.  When did London Hydro start applying the policy? 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Mr. Benum can confirm, but I believe 2017 would be the second year of changes, or third? 

MR. BENUM:  It would be -- we've done one year, 2016. 

DR. ELSAYED:  2016.

MR. BENUM:  Yes.

DR. ELSAYED:  How long was it between when you actually put the policy in effect to when you started consulting with your customers? 

MR. ARNOLD:  We haven't officially taken a consultation on our customers with this.  This was -- the significant feedback that was received was received at the community day.  And so it would be surveys and consultations that would be taking place over the next period of time to gather more information.  We have not started going through the consultation process yet. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  The first delivered change to the fixed charge as a result of the Board's policy for London Hydro would have been May 1st, 2016.  That would have been the first material change, but the only reason the fixed charge was going up was because of policy.  And then the consultations -- I don't have the dates off the top of my head, but it would have been after that. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  It was in September, right?  The community day was in September? 

MR. BENUM:  November. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  It was in November?  Seems like long ago. 

DR. ELSAYED:  Going back to the comment that Ms. Girvan made about the level of consultation that took place in developing the policy itself -- and I'm just reading from the policy document, and I just want to have your comment on that. 

It says here that this policy was developed after extensive consultation with distributors, customers, customer representatives, conservation advocates and other stakeholders.  Can you comment on this? 

MS. GIRVAN:  I'm aware of that, and I'm also aware the Board didn't undertake any direct customer surveys; that was really my point. 

Certainly people -- the Board sought submissions and people made submissions.  I'm not sure the Board accepted those submissions, or a lot of the points in those submissions.  But my point was really in terms of, you know, customer surveys, direct customer surveys.  I don't think the Board did any of that prior to the consultation. 

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  Would you accept the fact, I guess, that consultation typically in the process of developing a policy is to inform the policy development.  It is not a necessity you take into account every piece of input you receive -- sorry, not take account; incorporate every piece of it.

MS. GIRVAN:  I realize that's the case.  I guess my point was in a policy consultation, in a move toward a policy that directly impacts customers, and some customers in a very significant way, I think all we were trying to say is it probably would have been useful for the Board to have done that.

But the Board didn't do that, and so we are a saying there is an opportunity now for London to undertake that within the context of their own jurisdiction. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  I might add, Mr. Chair, that I'm not sure SEC agrees that surveys and things like that need to be done in the development of policy.  I think the Board has quite a number of stakeholders around the table with most policy development.

But what's unique here is that subsequent to that, you now have more information.  And the question is do you then just ignore that, because we've already developed the policy.  Or do you say, no, we have more information, let's go dig down a little bit.  That's the difference. 

It's not the consultation was done wrong the first time.  It's that now you have more. 

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  Anything else on that issue? 

MS. FRANK:  Can I ask one question?  The first year when you implemented this, so in May 2016, did you do an examination on the impact?  I think there was a requirement to look at what the impact would be on customers of different levels of consumption.

MR. BUONAGURO:  On the top of my head, there would been a requirement to many could up with a four-year plan assuming that the lowest -- I guess the 10th percentile, the people in the lowest 10 percent weren't impacted beyond a 10 percent impact.  And then if you couldn't do that within four years, then you had to make an alternative proposal.

MS. CHRISTIE:  There was a dollar limit, I think through IRM proceeding.  Is that correct?  You did this true through your IRM, the 2016 IRM?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right, it would have been an IRM year, yes.  The Board's policy -- I think you're suggesting, and you're right, that the Board's policy has embedded in it a threshold for deviating from a four-year program based on rate impacts of a particular subset of customers. 

MS. FRANK:  So this obviously must have been within that threshold, or you wouldn't have proceeded. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  There is no question what London Hydro proposed for 2016 and what London Hydro was proposing for 2017 fell within the parameters of the existing policy.  I don't think that's – that’s not an issue. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  The threshold could never be met mathematically.  But the change to the fixed charge, if you did it over four years, it would not be possible.  If you just do the math, because it's 10 percent of total bill, and the distribution bill is only 20 percent, you could never get to the 10 percent with just the fixed charge.  It would not be possible.

MS. FRANK:  I actually believe there are some utilities who could.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes, there is.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Hydro One?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, Hydro One, yes, because they have such a high fixed charge, but for somebody like London Hydro it would never be possible.

DR. ELSAYED:  Anything else?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry.  So I'm moving on then?

DR. ELSAYED:  Yes, please.
Continued Presentation by Mr. Buonaguro:


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

The next issue there is -- on page 38 is retail transmission service rates and low voltage service rates.  Again, there was no changes as a result of settlement.  We're just simply confirming that those were accepted as proposed.

And then the next issue is simply setting out what those rates are.  3.5, there was a proposal to collapse the current microFIT rate class and distribute those customers into the GS classes, and as part of the settlement the parties agreed to not go forward with that proposal, because it's -- basically, because it's a generic issue which is equally applicable to all customers -- or all distributors who have those customer classes, similar to the proposal at 3.6, the proposal to change the way in which net metered customers were being billed.  Again, a generic issue that it was agreed as part of the settlement proposal to leave as a generic issue to be dealt with generically.

3.7 -- again, I'm sort of charging ahead here, so please do interrupt me if you want to ask questions.  There is a proposal to implement a new charge for cellular meter reading, and that was agreed to as a part of the settlement proposal, because presumably there wasn't a rate to be charged at the time.

MR. BENUM:  That's right.

MS. FRANK:  Well, maybe I have a question or two on that one.  First of all, I guess -- I see in your application that this was based upon something just under $28 in terms of costs, so you've done a cost basis.  Did you also look at what other utilities might be charging for this charge?

MR. BENUM:  Well, the difficulty with this one is that we're kind of unique in this respect, because we've established a contract or an agreement with Bell Canada to secure a specific bandwidth for communication on security purposes.

So it's not something that's available to each customer to go out and apply for.  Bell wants us to absorb the costs for each customer, so we pay the bill, as opposed to the customer paying the bill.

MS. FRANK:  But would other utilities have entered into a similar negotiation with Bell?

MR. BENUM:  As far as I know, no.

MS. FRANK:  So you're the only ones.

MS. CHRISTIE:  The charges are being levied through you, and then you're -- this $30 then is an attempt to just pass along those costs, is what you're suggesting?

MR. BENUM:  Yes, and this basically goes back to a principle that was applied even before deregulation, where large interval customers were required to provide a dedicated phone line to the utility for purposes of interrogation of the meters.  And that over the span of time we now have different opportunities for obtaining that data, one being using the customer's Internet process, the other is using a dedicated phone line, or the third one is to offer the cellular option, but in this case here the cellular option is basically at London Hydro's expense, as opposed to being the customer -- at the customer's expense.

So all we're trying to do is to offer a menu of charge -- or menu of communication protocols and let the customer make the one that fits their preference.

MS. FRANK:  Has there been any communication with this customer group at this point, or are you waiting for this decision before you communicate?

MR. BENUM:  We've notified all the customers that are affected on this, and this affects the customers, the GS greater than 50 customers, less than 200 kilowatts, that are now being required to convert from standard pulse meters over to the interval meters.  That's our target right now, target market.

And so in our communication to them we advised them of three protocols for communication.  And in that communication we also advised that the -- there is a potential charge of $30 or some other amount based on OEB approval.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if I might add.  My customers are among the customers that would pay this.  They're actually a big chunk of them.  And I think Mr. Aiken's may be as well.

And so when I became aware of this when reviewing the application, I talked to the local school boards, but they were already aware of it.  The utility had already spoken to them, and they were quite happy with this direction.  So I think customer consultation in this case, at least as far as I know, has been pretty good.

MS. CHRISTIE:  So would these customers have already been incurring a cost of some sort to transmit this information, the metered information, to you in one way, either by a dedicated phone line or something, and that this is a different option through the cellular that you're suggesting to them?

MR. BENUM:  And again, it's because of the -- our target market being the customers in the GS greater than 50 but less than 200 kilowatts, where the Board has required us to convert everybody over to interval meters.

MS. CHRISTIE:  Oh, okay.  And that requires the cellular option?

MR. BENUM:  It became an option, as for consideration, I guess, because of the difficulties.  Some customers do not have Internet.  The cost of a dedicated phone line can be, you know, 70 to 80 dollars a month.  So therefore, it's not a preference for them.  This is just another option that we're applying to them.

MS. CHRISTIE:  So then the net costs could vary fairly dramatically, depending on what they're already doing.

MR. BENUM:  That's correct.

MS. CHRISTIE:  They could have reduction in costs, potentially, or this could be the increase depending on the method they're using now?

MR. BENUM:  That's correct.

MS. CHRISTIE:  Thank you.

MS. FRANK:  I have one final question on this topic.

When we looked at the prior two issues, the decision was not to proceed because these were generic type issues and you were looking -- or waiting for possibly a generic decision when it came to microFITs or when it came to net metering.  Is this not also a generic type issue?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I would say for those two issues -- the customers are already being charged for service under those two issues.  We're simply changing the way they're being charged.  In this particular case there is a gap for customers who now, because of the new require -- is this missed meters?  This is missed meters.  They're now having to go into missed meters, and they're going to have to now provide a way of reading their meters and either go out and get a dedicated phone line or take advantage of a new cellular service through the company.

It's a little bit different.  I understand what you're saying, that I guess you can characterize any issue as a generic issue if it applies to more than one distributor.  In this part -- but if you're comparing it to those previous two issues, there are already customer classes available, customers are in those classes being charged, and the proposal in those two issues was to change the way in which they're being charged.  Here these are customers that need a new service and there's got to be a way of charging them.  We don't have a rate to charge them for that cellular service.

MS. FRANK:  However, London Hydro is not the only utility that's facing this issue?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not sure that's true, Ms. Frank.  I think that they are the only utility right now that is proposing to offer the cellular service to customers.  There may be other utilities that should.  But this is the first time --


MS. FRANK:  The missed meter issue is broader-based, is it not?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure, but the cellular service is only one of the ways -- normally you wouldn't use cellular service, because it's not secure, right?  But London Hydro has -- I think is maybe in the lead a little bit in saying, we've got a way to make cellular secure for these customers, that's cheaper, and it may be the other utilities should be doing it, but I've never heard of anybody doing it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm mindful there was a Board Staff submission on this issue which made similar points, that there is a generic issue on rates like this, one-off rates. But I supported the proposal on the basis that there is -– that the focus of that is on pole attachment rates, for example. 

Again, without an approved rate, I don't think London Hydro can offer the service, so then the customers are going to have to go out and get dedicated lines, which may cost more.

MR. BENUM:  Either that, or allow the cross subsidization of the cost.  You know, because if we're absorbing the cost, but we’re installing this particular option if it's the only option available, we're trying to keep a level playing field.

MS. CHRISTIE:  Have you already entered into this agreement with Bell then to secure this contract? 

MR. BENUM:  Yes. 

DR. ELSAYED:  Anything else?  It's 11 o'clock now.  What I suggest is -- yes.  How much more time do you think? 

MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm just looking at what issues are actually left on the list.  I hadn't -- if you had asked me just to highlight the major issues, I'm done. 

DR. ELSAYED:  Yes. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  If you want me to technically touch on every issue to give you an opportunity to ask questions, than I have six pages or so.

DR. ELSAYED:  Are there any other issues the Panel would like to hear about that haven't been discussed? 

MS. FRANK:  I think there was some accounting discrepancy in terms of Staff's submission. 

DR. ELSAYED:  Oh, yes, sorry.

MS. FRANK:  I just wanted to hear what you were going to say about it more than anything.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think you're talking about the one  -- not an intervenor, but a customer who provided comments. 

DR. ELSAYED:  No, not that one, I don’t believe.  This one is issue 4.2.

MR. BUONAGURO:  4.2?

DR. ELSAYED:  Yes, on the Staff submission.  I believe that's what you're talking about, Ms. Frank?

MS. FRANK:  Maybe Staff -- can you please say what your position is? 

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes, the submission is in OEB Staff submission on page 6.  It’s relating to issue 4.2, the proposed deferral and variance accounts, and has to do with actuarial adjustments to pension amounts and the resultant transitioning to IFRS, and also recording the impact of including OPEB costs on a cash basis rather than on an accrual basis. 

And Staff had made a submission that we had provided a draft accounting order and believe that the utility needs to address that, or adjust for it in the accounting order. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think the first issue -- you wanted a draft accounting order for IFRS related account, and I think the answer is sure. 

The second one -- I'm just looking at this, is the way in which the draft account was brought up for OPEBs that we had included a provision for carrying charges, and I think Board Staff was objecting to that.  And I think --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That's correct.  Sorry to interrupt.  I read my last point would be carrying charges.  Okay, so accounting entry and the carrying charges. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Take out the accounting for carrying charges; I think we're okay with that. 

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  We will address the question about those other comments from -- particularly the one from Mr. Rosehart, whether there is that letter.  For now then, I suggest we take a break and deliberate about next steps. 

Why don't we take a break until 11:30, if that's okay with everybody. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, Mr. Janigan and I are awaited across the hall, where we said we would be ready at 10:30 and we're not.  So with respect, we would like to leave and go and deal with that. 

DR. ELSAYED:  Fine, thank you.  Thanks very much.  So we'll be back at 11:30. 
--- Recess taken at 11:04 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:41 a.m.
DECISION:


DR. ELSAYED:  Please be seated.

The OEB would like to thank London Hydro and the other participating stakeholders for their efforts in reaching this settlement.  The OEB finds that the settlement proposal provides a reasonable balance in terms of resulting in just and reasonable rates for London Hydro's customers.  However, there is one element that the OEB is not prepared to accept, and that is Issue 3.3 in the settlement proposal, which deals with the rate design.  More specifically, this is the issue where the parties agreed to suspend implementation of London Hydro's proposal to move residential rates to a fully fixed charge by one year.

The OEB considers that customer feedback to be very important, but it is one of the factors that are considered in arriving in our decisions.

As I mentioned earlier, extensive consultation already took place in a generic sense when this policy was developed with a much wider base.  We feel that input in this case from customers was much more limited, given the evidence that we've heard.

Also, I want to emphasize that this policy affects different customers in different ways.  For the average customer there is no impact.  In the case of London Hydro, they stated that applying the policy when they started applying in 2016, they were well within the limits of both tests that would have required mitigation.

I also want to mention the fact that there were a number of comments about the policy itself.  This is not the right forum to discuss the merits of the policy.  Also, there was a comment regarding delaying implementation as being not a deviation from the policy.  The Board considers that this delay, proposed delay, is a deviation from the policy, because the policy clearly states that implementation has to take place starting at a certain date.

So in summary, we don't see that there was compelling reasons provided to deviate from the policy in this case.  So as a result, and because of that Issue 3.3, we conclude that the settlement as currently proposed cannot be accepted.

We acknowledge the fact that London Hydro agreed to the two changes that have been suggested by staff, and that is part of the understanding that all the parties have.

And I just would like to find out if the parties would like an opportunity to discuss that one Issue 3.3 and come back to the Panel?  We're prepared to give you some time to do that if you choose to, and then let us know what you're thinking.  Otherwise we would adjourn for the day and then deal with that at a later date.

MS. GIRVAN:  Just speaking on behalf of the other intervenors, we do need to caucus, and I'm not exactly sure how long that will take, but maybe we can convey that through Mr. Thiessen in terms of whether we can come back today or not, and we have to caucus with London Hydro as well.

DR. ELSAYED:  Is that okay with London Hydro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  I mean, it would be -- ideally we can at least talk today and give you an indication whether it's going to --


DR. ELSAYED:  Yeah.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- be days, minutes, seconds, hours.

DR. ELSAYED:  Well --


MS. GIRVAN:  It's not going to be seconds.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Hopefully minutes.

DR. ELSAYED:  We are around.  The Panel will be around, and if you can just let us know what you decide to do.

I just want to take a few minutes, then, before we take a break, another break, to just talk about Mr. Rosehart's letters.  I would like to say that the OEB recognizes the ten comment letters filed by customers in this proceeding.  In particular, the OEB has taken notice of the two letters filed by Mr. Mark Rosehart, which were accompanied by detailed analysis and calculations.

The OEB notes that Staff have responded to that -- that the OEB staff have responded to the issues raised by Mr. Rosehart in his letters of December 9th, 2016 and January 22nd, 2017.  This was done through a conference call held on February 13, 2017 which was included -- which, sorry, which included the four intervenors in this proceeding.

The OEB thanks Mr. Rosehart for bringing his issues forward in such a comprehensive and thorough matter.  As indicated in the acknowledgment letters, the OEB considers all comments received when reaching its decision.

The OEB believes that Staff has ensured that London Hydro appropriately followed the accounting rules and standards that apply in this particular case.

Would staff want to add anything to this?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Chair.

Just with respect to the specific issues that Mr. Rosehart had raised regarding the time lag between payments and payments being trued up, Staff just wanted to point out that this is a mechanism that is an inherent part of the regulatory process, in the sense that payments are made and collected on an estimated basis but then are corrected on a going-forward basis.

While efforts are made to try and minimize time lags as much as possible, these lags are an inherent characteristic of the -- to some degree an inherent characteristic embedded in utility rate regulation.

And on example is that the OEB requires balances in these accounts to be verified or audited before being brought forward for disposition.  This may require an 18-month or even a 24-month lag between when the costs are incurred and when they're disposed.  So this -- and this time lag, you know, in that particular example, but in others, is a characteristic of utility rate regulation, and we did explain this to Mr. Rosehart, so...

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.

Any questions or comments on this particular issue?  Okay.  With that then we will -- I'm not sure whether to call it a break or an adjournment, I guess, depending on what you guys decide.  But we will take a break, and the Panel will make itself available if you let us know what you've decided to do.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 11:50 a.m.

--- On resuming at 12:39 p.m.

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  Do you want to proceed?

Submissions by Mr. Buonaguro:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  So the parties have had a chance to discuss the impact of the Board's decision on the --


MS. GIRVAN:  I was just going to say I don't think Mr. Aiken knows that we're back.  But maybe I should just email him and tell him.


DR. ELSAYED:  Sure.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is the phone line open?


DR. ELSAYED:  Yes, it is.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Shall we wait?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Why don’t you go ahead?


MR. BUONAGURO:  He knows what we're about to say.  So we've had a chance to discuss it, and particularly the intervenors had a chance to discuss amongst themselves, so on so and forth.  So I believe this is what we're proposing.


With respect to the agreement that's on the record, we're agreeing to amend that to make the fixed charge proposal aspect of it severable from the rest of the agreement.  So that means that the Board's rejection of that one issue does not any longer impact on its approval of the rest of the agreement.


So in that sense, we have reissued an agreement on the rest of the issues, and we'll have to file an amended copy that reflects that.


That leaves the fixed charge proposal as a severed issue which has been rejected by the Board, which means now the way it's proceeding, we think that the Board would have to make a decision on that issue beyond having rejected it as part of the settlement proposal.  I think how that works is that the parties have actually already made submissions in support of what they think the Board should do, i.e. it's encapsulated under 3.1.1, I think.  And the Board then has to issue a ruling on that proposal.


We wouldn't need an oral hearing.  We have already -- there is no further evidence to be filed, and in fact we know what the Board's decision is.  But technically, the Board would have to make a decision on the severed issue, having rejected the proposal as a settlement.


It sounds more complicated than it is, but I don't know if anybody else has something to add to make sure I’ve captured it properly.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That captures it correctly.


MS. FRANK:  You would need this decision on the separate issue before you could actually implement anything, right?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, because we would have to reissue the -- depending whether the Board in theory unexpectedly agrees with the settlement proposal it just rejected, and assuming the Board -- I don't want to prejudge the Board, but assuming that the Board as part of its decision says implement the fixed charge proposal as originally filed, the settlement proposal that we have doesn't contemplate that.  It contemplates a delay in the implementation of the proposal.


So we would have to reissue all the information with respect to the rates.


MS. FRANK:  Right.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So fixed charges for the residential would go up slightly, in accordance with that original plan.  So technically, we need a decision on the unsettled issue -- sorry, the rejected settlement proposal on the fixed charge.


MS. FRANK:  Prior to?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Prior to finalizing the numbers in the settlement proposal.  The settlement proposal -- the package deal absent the fixed charge proposal still stands, but we can't show you the numbers.


MS. FRANK:  Right.  So it's note a complete settlement package because --


MR. BUONAGURO:  That's true.


MS. FRANK:  It might be a better thing for us to give a decision on this one item and then you reissue the settlement proposal so that it --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.


MS. FRANK:  -- could be comprehensive with the attachments?


MR. BUONAGURO:  We now have a partial settlement with one issue outstanding, and that is how is the fixed charge proposal going to proceed.  We need the Board's ruling before we can show you what rates are going to look like.


MS. CHRISTIE:  Could you not resubmit a settlement with your original --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.


MS. CHRISTIE:  So that you would provide us with --


MR. SHEPHERD:  We're not willing to agree that the fixed charge should be moved.  We've heard from the customers.


DR. ELSAYED:  We understand that.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  We don't have a connection with Mr. Aiken.  Sorry to interrupt, but we just, you know, need to do that at the dais.


MS. FRANK:  I understand you need it severed?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.


MS. FRANK:  But then the settlement as it was originally filed had schedules you would also have to take out, right?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Absolutely.


MS. FRANK:  And then you'd also add the accounting type issues in?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.


DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  One at a time.  Mr. Aiken, are you on the line?  Mr. Aiken?


MR. AIKEN:  Yes.


DR. ELSAYED:  You didn't miss too much, but I think what has been said so far you've been privy to as part of your earlier discussion.  Or do you feel that you need to hear what London Hydro is proposing?


MR. AIKEN:  No, I don't think so.


MR. BUONAGURO:  He is probably further ahead not having heard our discussion.


DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  So just to confirm what Ms. Frank said, you have to submit an amended settlement proposal that has this issue as severable, as well as making the changes that you've agreed to per the Staff submission; is that correct?


MR. AIKEN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But I thought Ms. Frank was also suggesting that the schedules that have the fixed charge would also be amended, and I don't think that’s correct.


The settlement proposal is what it is.  The Board has rejected one provision.  We have to refile to say it's severable and to correct the accounting things.


But the Board has rejected one part, which means the Board's decision then will require that a rate order be done, and it's then that the new schedules have to be prepared.


The settlement proposal remains consistent.  The new schedules become part of your decision, not part of the settlement proposal.


MS. FRANK:  The settlement proposal as it stood before it stood before, the prior one, had schedules in it that reflected the delay proposal.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's still what the settlement proposal says.


MS. FRANK:  But now it’s severed.  Why would the schedules still reflect that?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Because the settlement proposal is what the parties agreed.  So the parties agreed to certain results.  The Board is then overruling part of it and saying, no, we are not agreeing to that part.  So the Board's order will have a different set of schedules which will reflect the Board's decision, not what the parties agreed.


MR. BUONAGURO:  We're in a unique position because we essentially know what the Board's ruling is going to be on the unsettled issue.  So you're right, we do have to reissue everything in accordance with that Board decision once it's made.  But technically, it's not part of the settlement.  The settlement is open to either -- because it's severable, the settlement can be transformed based on the Board's decision.


If the Board suddenly agreed with the settlement proposal as filed --



 DR. ELSAYED:  In terms of adding steps along the way, I've already indicated earlier that but for that one issue, the Board is comfortable with the settlement proposal.  So if you're saying this would be severed, let's put the procedural issues aside for now.


What we've essentially said is we're prepared to accept the settlement proposal except for that one issue and we reject the proposal because it was part of that overall comprehensive settlement.


If we do say to you now that if it's severed, we will accept the settlement proposal and we will still continue to reject the part of 3.3, where does that take us if we make that decision right now?



MR. BUONAGURO:  Then it's just a matter of us amending the settlement proposal to reflect the severing, so that it's clear that it was re --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Your question is about that issue, right?  Your request is where does it take you on that issue, and I think the answer is that becomes an unsettled issue.  And then, like any other unsettled issue, you would normally have a hearing and make a decision.  And what we're saying is you don't need to have a hearing.  You've had your hearing already. 

DR. ELSAYED:  Right. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  And we've already made our submissions and we're satisfied that we've now been heard, and you have to make a decision on the unsettled issue.  It's not part of the settlement proposal anymore. 

DR. ELSAYED:  So the subtlety here is that the decision that I have conveyed verbally, which applied to the settlement proposal as a whole, and I focus pretty much all of my comments on the reasons for rejecting 3.3, that is not sufficient.  We have to do that in a separate decision because now it's a severed issue.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, because technically the decision you've made so far is a decision on the settlement proposal, not a decision on rates. 

DR. ELSAYED:  I understand. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's a technicality. 

MS. GIRVAN:  And the rate order that comes out of your final decision on the unsettled issue will reflect the proposal to move forward with the fixed rates. 

MS. FRANK:  One struggle I'm having is that if there is a schedule that's attached that reflects a set of rates that is inconsistent with what that other direction is going to be, if we accept it, are we accepting that schedule?  Because we wouldn't want to, obviously.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't think you are. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  The caveat would be is that the amended settlement agreement assumes a certain outcome on the unsettled issue -- on the rejected part, and then assuming that it's all subject to change based on the Board's decision based on the fixed charge proposal.

If you give us your decision on the fixed charge proposal, we can reissue all the information to show you what the rates look like.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The easiest way to think of it, I think, is if we had just not settled that issue, we would still have the schedules attached to the agreement, but they --


MS. FRANK:  But we wouldn’t have approved them.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But once you had decided on the unsettled issue, we’d then have to re-do the schedules.  It’s no different.

MR. BUONAGURO:  They become place-holders, pending the outcome of the Board's decision on that settled issue.

MS. FRANK:  So there is no -- my challenge here is if you approve the settlement with the severed issue leaving all the schedules in, is there an inference that you're approving the schedules? 

MR. SHEPHERD:  No. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  And we can make that clear that when we reissue a version of the settlement with that as a severable issue, that all the information that is based on a certain outcome of the severed issue, but is subject to change based on the Board's decision on the fixed charge proposal.  And in fact, we can probably reissue some of the tables --


MR. SHEPHERD:  We can provide you with the new ones at the same time.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think the only one that changes really is the fixed variable split proposals on the rates.  That’s the only one that changes, so it's literally one table, I think, table II or something like that. 

DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  Any other questions?  I think we understand what's being proposed.  Any questions? 

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I would suggest to the panel that we set some deadlines for the filing of the --


DR. ELSAYED:  Before we do that, I actually suggest that the Panel take fifteen minutes if possible to caucus on this, and come back to you on what could be next steps.  Okay. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chair, do you need Mr. Janigan and I back here then or not?  Or should we make sure we're available? 

DR. ELSAYED:  Depends what we decide. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess.  We'll make sure we're available. 

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you. 
--- Recess taken at 12:52 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:37 p.m.


DR. ELSAYED:  I just want to confirm what we decided.  There are three components and some have been mentioned earlier.  So just to go over it, and if you have any clarification questions, please let me know. 

So I want to confirm that we do accept the settlement proposal as submitted, with the exception of 3.3.1; that's decision number one.  We agree with the parties' proposal to sever that issue, 3.3.1, from the settlement proposal; that's number two.

Number two, we confirm that we do reject the parties' position on that severed item, 3.3.1, and I think I've gone over all the reasons for doing so. 

So based on those, we ask that London Hydro file a draft rate order based on those decisions. 

I was just going to ask -- we were going to propose a week.  Is that sufficient? 

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sounds like it is. 

DR. ELSAYED:  And then following that, we were proposing to allow another week for comments on that.  Is that enough? 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chair, I think if the draft rate order is just what we've already seen with the change to the residential fixed rate, it's not going to take us a week to look at it. 

DR. ELSAYED:  I'm all for a shorter period of time. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  A couple of days is fine.

DR. ELSAYED:  That’s fine with me.  What would be reasonable for you, considering that Monday is a holiday, I guess. 

MR. BUONAGURO:  We can leave it at a week, and we’ll file it earlier if we --


DR. ELSAYED:  A week today?  Is that okay?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Two days is fine for us.

DR. ELSAYED:  Two days after that.  So a week today would be the 23rd, and then -- now the 23rd will be a Thursday.  So you say two days meaning the Monday? 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.  Hopefully, they will file it before the 23rd, in which case we can have it on Friday. 

DR. ELSAYED:  So five working days for the draft reorder and two working days for comments. 

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be February 27th. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, the 27th is a Saturday.

DR. ELSAYED:  The 23rd for the draft. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's fine. 

DR. ELSAYED:  And the 27th for the comments.  Okay? 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Great. 

DR. ELSAYED:  Anything else? 

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think we're done.

DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you very much.  Again, we appreciate all the efforts made by the parties, and with that we're adjourned.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 1:40 p.m.
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